Filed 12-02-2020 Page 1 of 45

FILED 12-02-2020 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

No. 2020AP001302-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

TODD DI MICELI, Defendant-Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE, ENTERED IN DODGE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARTIN DEVRIES, PRESIDING

REPLACEMENT BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Julia C. Westley Wisconsin Bar No. 1097570 Counsel for Todd Di Miceli

Grieve Law, LLC 225 Regency Court, Suite 200 Brookfield, WI 53045

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Law enforcement obtained a subpoena under Wisconsin Statute §968.375, in which subsection (6) directs that the subpoena shall be served within five days of its date of issuance. The subpoena was not executed until nine days later. Under Wisconsin Statute §968.375(6), is "shall" mandatory or directory? If "shall" is mandatory, is the delayed execution of the subpoena a fundamental error or a technical one? If it is a fundamental error, does it substantially affect the rights of Mr. Di Miceli in this case?

The circuit court in this case answered that "shall" under Wisconsin Statute \$968.375(6) is directory and not mandatory, and that this was a technical error. Additionally, it held that because probable cause still existed at the time of the execution of the subpoena, this delay did not substantially affect the rights of Mr. Di Miceli.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication of this case is requested as this issue has not been addressed for Wisconsin Statute §968.375. Additionally, given this is a new issue for the Court to review, oral arguments are requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts in this case are not in dispute. (R. 29:1, App. To Appellant's Br. 28.) On September 4, 2015, Special Agent in Charge Jesse Crowe with the Department of Criminal Investigation (hereinafter "DCI") was allegedly able to successfully download four files from an IP address of 68.190.154.93. (R. 22:1, App. 20.) Special Agent Crowe viewed all of these files and opined that they were images of child pornography. *Id.* Special Agent Crowe then performed a query on the IP address and discovered that the IP address was registered to Charter Communications. *Id.* On October 23, 2015, Special Agent Crowe secured a subpoena through the Attorney General's Office requesting activity on the IP

address during specific periods of time, as well as the subscriber name and address. *Id*.

On October 23, 2015, the Honorable David Flanagan, a Dane County judge, signed the subpoena directed at Charter Communications. Id. The document titled Findings and Orders re: Subpoena contains a section entitled Orders for Issuance, Service, and Return of Subpoena, and under that section, the Court ordered that DCI serve the subpoena within five (5) days of the date of the order. *Id*. Special Agent Jesse Crowe sent a facsimile transmission to the Charter Communications Legal Department at 11:07am on November 2, 2015, approximately nine (9) days after the date the subpoena was signed. Id. Charter Communications provided information via email to Special Agent Crowe on November 3, 2015. (R. 22:1-2, App. 20-21.) No evidence has been provided that Charter Communications would have otherwise surrendered information without a subpoena. This information included the account number, subscriber

name, postal address, and billing address, as well as IP logs associated with the IP address in the subpoena. (R. 22:2, App. 21.) That subscriber was identified as the defendant in this matter, Todd Di Miceli, and the service address was his residence in Hustisford, Wisconsin. *Id*.

Between November 13, 2015 and January 8, 2016, surveillance of Mr. Di Miceli's home was conducted, and additional evidence was gathered. Id. On January 27, 2016, Special Agent Raymond Gibbs of DCI applied for a search warrant to search the premises at Mr. Di Miceli's residence in Hustisford for any items that may contain evidence of child pornography. Id. In the application for the search warrant, Special Agent Gibbs listed the day in which the subpoena was issued and the date that Charter Communications returned data to Special Agent Crowe, but the date on which the subpoena was served upon Charter Communications was omitted from the warrant. Id. In that warrant, under the section titled Facts Supporting Issuance of Search Warrant,

Special Agent Gibbs lists Mr. Di Miceli's name and address, which is information gained from Charter Communications' compliance with the subpoena. *Id*.

The search warrant was signed by the Honorable Brian Pfitzinger on January 27, 2016. *Id*. That warrant was executed on January 28, 2016. *Id*. Police performed a search of Mr. Di Miceli's home, where numerous hard drives, computers, and other electronic storage devices were seized. *Id*. Upon searches of the equipment, Special Agents found media that was opined to be child pornography on various devices. *Id*. Mr. Di Miceli was charged with six (6) counts of Possession of Child Pornography in Dodge County. *Id*.

Mr. Di Miceli filed a motion to suppress the subpoena and evidence obtained as a results of the failure to properly execute the subpoena on September 28, 2018 with the circuit court arguing that the term "shall" was mandatory, and therefore the subpoena was illegally executed. (R. 22:1-4, App. 20-23.) The State filed its motion to deny the

motion to suppress on April 2, 2019, asking the court to deny the motion without a hearing. (R. 27:1-4, App. 24-27.) It argued that the term "shall" was directory and was therefore a technical error under Wis. Stat. §968.375(12). (R. 27:3, App. 26.) Mr. Di Miceli was further permitted to provide a response to the State's motion to deny, which provided that not only was "shall" mandatory, but that it was a fundamental error and that it substantially affected Mr. Di Miceli's rights. (R. 28:1-8, App. 28-35.)

On May 9, 2019, the trial judge issued a written decision denying Mr. Di Miceli's Motion to Suppress the subpoena. (R. 29:6, App. 41.) In its reasoning, the circuit court found that the term "shall," as it is used in Wis. Stat. §968.375(6), was directory instead of mandatory based on factors laid out in *State v. R.R.E.*, and because it was directory, no remedy was required. (R. 29:5, App. 40.) The court further assessed that because it was directory, this was a technical error and no remedy

was required under Wis. Stat. §968.375(12). Id. The court explained:

"In the case at hand, after consideration of these factors, the Court finds that the word 'shall' is directory and the motion to suppress is to be denied. The purpose of the statutory scheme is to facilitate easier acquisition of electronic records. Consequences of making it mandatory include potential dismissal of serious charges. There are no penalties set forth for a violation of the 5-day service provision. Further support for denial of the motion is provided by §968.375(12) which states evidence 'shall not be suppressed because of technical irregularities or errors not affecting the substantive rights of the defendant.' There is no dispute on whether probable cause existed for issuance of the subpoena. The evidence (alleged child pornography computer) [sic] did not change. Di Miceli argues that an "expired subpoena" gave rise to an illegal search which affected his substantive rights. However, since the Court has found the 5-day provision to be directional, not mandatory, this was not an illegal search and can be considered technical irregularity. This case а differs from State v. Poppenhagen, 309 Wis.2d 601 (2008) where lack of probable cause implicated substantive rights."

Id. The facts were provided in written motions to the trial court and have not been contested by the State. No motion hearing took place.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court is being asked to review an order denying a motion to suppress as a question of constitutional fact. The trial court's conclusions or interpretation of law are reviewed *de novo*. *City of Muskego v. Godec*, 167 Wis. 2d 536, 545, 482 N.W.2d 79 (1992). Additionally, "questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law which [are reviewed] de novo." *Stockbridge School Dist. v. DPI*, 202 Wis.2d 214, 219, 550 N.W.2d 96 (1996). The facts in this case are undisputed. Trial [courts'] factual finding[s] are affirmed unless clearly erroneous. Wis. Stat. §805.17(2).

ARGUMENT

The term "shall" under Wisconsin Statute \$968.375(6) is mandatory, not directory; and an error surrounding the execution of a subpoena under that statute is a fundamental error, rather than a technical error as described in Wis. Stat. \$968.375(12). Further, this fundamental error

subverted Mr. Di Miceli's rights, and the subpoena in this case should be suppressed.

- I. In Wisconsin Statute §968.375(6), the term "shall" is mandatory, not directory.
 - A. The rules of statutory interpretation in Wisconsin law support that "shall" is mandatory, as does the statute's legislative history.

In Scanlon v. Menahsa, 16 Wis.2d 437, 443, 114 N.W.2d 791 (1962), the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the word "shall" is presumed mandatory when it appears in a statute.

In determining the meaning of a word in a statute, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin held that the goal of statutory interpretation is to determine the meaning of a statute so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty*, 2004 WI 58, ¶44, 271 Wis.2d 633, 662, 681 N.W.2d 110. Interpretation of a statute begins with an examination of the statutory language. *Id.* ¶45. "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary,

and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." *Id.* ¶45. Where the statutory language is ambiguous, courts turn to extrinsic sources, such as legislative history, to help discern the meaning of a statute. *Id.* ¶51. "[A] statute is ambiguous if it is capable of being understood by reasonably wellinformed persons in two or more senses." *Id.* ¶47.

While Mr. Di Miceli argues that "shall" is unambiguous, a review of the legislative history and purpose also supports that "shall" in §968.375 was to be interpreted as mandatory, rather than directory. The State argued in its response motion to the circuit court that the word "shall" is mandatory in §968.15(2), the statute for the execution of warrants, but in §968.375(6) it has a separate objective that is not mandatory. (R. 27:2, App. 25.) The State's position assumes a lack of purpose in the inclusion writing of §968.375(6). Wisconsin Statute §968.375 was not codified until

2013, whereas Wisconsin Statute §968.15, has been around long enough to be clarified by the Supreme Court of Wisconsin in State v. Sveum. State v. Sveum, 2010 WI 92, 328 Wis. 2d 369, 787 N.W.2d 317. The case at hand is distinguishable from Sveum, executed under where а warrant was \$968.15 requiring that the warrant be returned by law enforcement within 5 days of its execution. Id. ¶¶71-72. The GPS tracking device was instead left on Sveum's vehicle for 35 days, which surpassed the deadline for law enforcement to return the warrant to the court. Id.

Sveum stated the timely return of a warrant was a ministerial duty that did not substantially affect the rights of the defendant, and therefore "shall" as instructed in §968.15(2) was not mandatory as it related to the return of the warrant. *Id.* However, when referring to the execution of the warrant in §968.15(2), "shall" is mandatory because the legislature has ordered that the search warrant otherwise be void. Wis. Stat.

§968.15(2). Three years after this decision, the Wisconsin legislature still chose to use "shall" in Wis. Stat. \$968.375(6) rather than "may," indicating that the legislature intended it to

contain a mandatory deadline.

Additionally, Sveum only addresses the return of the warrant when it comes to the word "shall," thus distinguishing it from the execution of the warrant. Sveum at ¶¶71-72. It is notable that the legislature in §968.375 has done the same by addressing the execution of the subpoena in one sub-statute, the return of the subpoena in another. See §968.375(6) and §968.375(9). It would follow, then, that the 5-day "shall" in the return of the subpoena is directory in §968.375(9), and the 5day "shall" in the execution of the subpoena under §968.375(6) would mirror that of the execution of the warrant.

In State v. Edwards, 98 Wis. 2d. 367, 370, 297 N.W.2d 12, (1980), a warrant was executed and returned approximately five days and two hours

after the warrant was signed by the judge. The defendant in Edwards argued the warrant as untimely executed and returned, and that therefore the warrant should have been suppressed. Id. at 371. The Court in Edwards held first that the warrant was timely executed and returned because it was still executed and returned on the fifth day of its issuance. Id. at 371-372. Second, the Court held that whether the execution of the warrant was reasonable depends also on whether there was still probable cause at the time the warrant was executed. Id. at 372-373. So, because the warrant was timely executed and there was probable cause at the time it was executed, the execution of the warrant was reasonable. Id. Annotations of Edwards

in Wisconsin Statute §968.15 note the same interpretation.¹

In the case at hand, the facts of this case are undisputed, and the subpoena was not executed

¹ "Execution of a search warrant is timely if in compliance with sub. (1) and if probable cause which led to issuance still exists at time of execution." Wis. Stat. Ann. §968.15.

within five days as required by the statute. The Court in *Edwards* first evaluated whether the search warrant was timely intentionally. *Id.* at 371. If the Court in *Edwards* was not concerned with whether the warrant was timely executed, then it would not have taken the time to conduct an evaluation of that aspect of the warrant.

The rules of statutory interpretation, the legislative history, and other cases' interpretations of "shall" all support that it is mandatory in §968.375 and in the subpoena used for Mr. Di Miceli's case. Shall is unambiguous and uses the same language in §968.15(2), which mandates the execution of the warrant within five days. Further, while Sveum defines "shall" as directory for the return of the warrant, Edwards had already clarified the mandatory nature of "shall" when it to the execution of the warrant. came More importantly, Edwards clarified that a warrant is timely executed if within the five-day requirement, and as long as probable cause still exists during

that five-day period, the warrant is valid. *Edwards* at 375-376. These clarifications by the judicial branch in §968.15(2) support the argument that "shall" is mandatory in §968.375(6), and the subpoena must be timely executed. Therefore, the execution of the warrant after nine days in Mr. Di Miceli's case was against a mandatory order given by the legislature.

B. The factors in State v. R.R.E. support that "shall" is mandatory because the objectives of the statute support a mandatory deadline, "shall" being interpreted as directory would further violate a citizen's right to privacy, and the statute lays out suppression as a penalty for violation of this statute.

Wisconsin Statute §968.375(6) requires that a subpoena issued under that section shall not be executed more than five days after the date of issuance. The Wisconsin Supreme Court stated in *State v. R.R.E.*, 162 Wis.2d 698, 707, 470 N.W.2d 283 (1991), that the use of the word "shall" in statutes suggests mandate; however, there are instances in which it can be directory. In

determining whether "shall" is mandatory versus directory, the Court laid out a list of factors to review including the objectives of the statute, the consequences of alternative explanations, and whether a penalty is imposed for a violation. *Id*. at 708.

In the case at hand, the trial court reviewed those factors and determined that the purpose of the statute was to facilitate easier acquisition to electronic records, the consequences of alternative explanations including the potential dismissal of serious charges, and that there was no penalty laid out for violation. (R. 29:5, App. 40.)

First, the wording of these statutes written by the legislature has a purpose other than the circuit court's holding that they support easier acquisition to electronic records. These statutes exist to ensure a citizen's right to privacy of their electronic surveillance records when they are being infringed upon. As referenced in *State ex rel. Two Unnamed Petitioners v. Peterson*, 2015 WI

§968.15, the statute regarding the execution of warrants, and §968.375 general search are considered constitutional provisions. Constitutional provisions protect citizens against the invasion of their person, belongings, or electronic communications. Wisconsin Statute \$968.375 was created as part of the Wisconsin Electronic Surveillance Control Law, which prohibits electronic surveillance. Both State v. Tentoni, 2015 WI App 77, 365 Wis.2d 211, 871 N.W.2d 285, and State v. Turner, 2014 WI App 93, 356 Wis.2d 759, 854 N.W.2d 865, reference the Wisconsin Electronic Surveillance Control Law as Wisconsin Statutes §968.27 through §968.375. Ιt also penalizes those who violate such a law. Wis. Stat. §968.31. The five-day limit on the execution of a search warrant and that of a subpoena under \$968.375 should be viewed as having the same purpose. The legislature created Wis. Stat. \$968.375 in 2013 with the same five-day deadline

85, ¶¶ 246-247, 363 Wis.2d 1, 866 N.W.2d 165, both

using the same language as §968.15. See Wis. Stat. §§968.15, 968.375(6). This further supports the prior distinction in Sveum that the "shall" pertaining to the return of the warrant is more similar to §968.375(9) rather than §968.375(6), which closely mirrors the purpose of the "shall" in the execution of the warrant under §968.15(2).

Something like an IP address can change every time a router resets power. So, in the case at hand, any identifying information leading to Mr. Di Miceli could have changed at any time. Law enforcement in this case did not even seek a subpoena immediately after the child pornography was flagged. Special Agents were made aware of the possible child pornography images on September 4, 2015. (R. 22:1, App. 20.) Seven weeks later, the subpoena was applied for and obtained on October 23, 2015. Id. The five-day time limit is imposed by the legislature to guarantee a prompt execution to best ensure that the information remains the same from the date of the application to the date of

execution. Execution of the subpoena after nine (9) days is a violation of requirements imposed by the legislature. If the purpose of the five-day

timeframe is to ensure ease of access to records, then the legislature would have imposed more lenient time restrictions than one that mirrors that of the execution of a search warrant under \$968.15.

During its discussion in *Edwards*, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin echoed these sentiments by referencing a Third Circuit Court of Appeals case. It stated the following:

In United States v. Bedford, 519 F.2d 650, 655 (3rd Cir. 1975), the court of appeals, reviewing the validity of a state issued search warrant, stated: "The element of time can admittedly affect the validity of a search warrant. Since it is upon allegation of presently existing facts that a warrant is issued, it is essential that it be executed promptly, `in order to lessen the possibility that the facts upon which probable cause was initially based do not become dissipated.' If the police were allowed to execute the warrant at leisure, the safeguard of judicial control over the search which the fourth amendment is intended accomplish would be to eviscerated."

Edwards, 98 Wis.2d at 372. If the purpose of \$968.375(6) was to give more time, these short turn around deadlines would not exist. The purpose of these statutes is correctly summed up in *Bedford*.

R.R.E.The second factor in is the consideration of the consequences of alternative interpretations. R.R.E. at 708. An alternative explanation in this case is that "shall" is directory rather than mandatory. If "shall" is read as mandatory under §968.375(6), then once the fiveday time period has lapsed, law enforcement would be required to obtain a new subpoena. In this case, there would not have been any harm in considering that subpoena void and obtaining a new one. Law enforcement had already waited over six weeks to obtain the subpoena and then waited another nine days to execute it. Between the fifth and ninth days, law enforcement could have re-applied for a new subpoena. The result of voiding subpoenas after five days may result in dismissal of serious charges in some cases, but the burden on law

enforcement of obtaining a new subpoena is very low. Every citizen, regardless of how serious their charges may be, deserves the right to protection against improper surveillance of their personal electronic records.

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