Filed 02-01-2021

Page 1 of 36

FILED 02-01-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2020AP1302-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TODD DIMICELI,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE, ENTERED IN DODGE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARTIN J. DEVRIES, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

To be sure, section 968.375(2)'s and (3)'s requirement that subpoenas and warrants for records sought may only be issued on a determination of probable cause protects providers and their customers from indiscriminate searches of the provider's records. But section 968.375's other provisions are intended to facilitate the production of the provider's records for legitimate law enforcement purposes.

For example, section 968.375 protects ISPs by (1) limiting the jurisdictional reach of legal process under this section to ISP's doing business in this state, (2) limiting the circumstances when judges can order the production of records by requiring a probable cause showing, (3) proscribing the manner of service on the record holder, (4) allowing the ISP to move to quash a subpoena or warrant, and (5) providing immunity from civil liability to the ISP for acts or omissions associated with its compliance with the section. Wis. Stat. § 968.375(1), (2), (3), (5), (7), and (11). In addition, other provisions protect law enforcement's investigatory interests by allowing a judge to order the ISP not to disclose the existence of the subpoena to the customer. Wis. Stat. § 968.375(10). When viewing section 968.375 as a whole, the circuit court reasonably concluded that section 968.375's purpose is to "facilitate easier acquisition of electronic records." (R. 29:5.)

Section 968.375's history supports the circuit court's assessment that section 968.375's primary purpose is to facilitate the acquisition of electronic records. The preamble to 2009 Wis. Act 349, which created section 968.375, describes the act as "relating to: subpoenas and warrants requiring providers of electronic communications services or of remote

computing services to provide customer information or disclose contents of wire or electronic communications." Again, section 968.375 primarily focuses on the provider's rights and responsibilities and not the subscriber's.

The circuit court also considered the consequences that would follow from treating "shall" as mandatory rather than permissive. R.R.E., 162 Wis. 2d at 708. "Consequences of making it mandatory include potential dismissal of serious charges." (R. 29:5.) Indeed, as the Supreme Court has observed, "Police practices trigger the harsh sanction of exclusion only when they are deliberate enough to yield 'meaningfu[l]' deterrence, and culpable enough to be 'worth the price paid by the justice system." Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 240 (2011) (quoting Herring v. United States, 555 U.S. 135, 144 (2009)). The exclusion of evidence and possible dismissal of a DiMiceli's prosecution for possession of child pornography based on the State's late service of a subpoena on a third-party would constitute an unreasonably harsh sanction and is not worth the price to be paid by the justice system.

Finally, in determining that "shall" was not mandatory, the circuit court reasonably noted the absence of a penalty for violating section 968.375(6)'s five-day service requirement. R.R.E., 162 Wis. 2d at 708. (R. 29:5.) And, to close the circle, section 968.375(12) limits the circumstances when a court may suppress evidence to those limited circumstances when an error in complying with section 968.375's requirements implicates a defendant's substantial rights. A four-day delay in failing to comply with section 968.375(6)'s five-day requirement for serving a subpoena on Charter did not violate DiMiceli's substantial rights.

The circuit court properly applied RRE's four factors when it determined that "shall," as used in section 968.375(6) is permissive or directory and not mandatory. The circuit court properly denied DiMiceli's suppression motion on this basis. (R. 29:5–6.)

D. Untimely service of the subpoena did not render it void.

DiMiceli contends that the State's failure to comply with section 968.375(6)'s five-day service requirement rendered the section 968.375(2) subpoena void and requires suppression of the information obtained through the subpoena and evidence obtained through the execution of the warrant at his residence. (DiMiceli's Br. 33–35.)

In advancing this argument, DiMiceli notes Wis. Stat. § 968.15's requirements guiding the timely execution of a search warrant. (DiMiceli's Br. 11–12.) Section 968.15(1) requires a search warrant to be executed within "5 days after the date of issuance." And section 968.15(2)—unlike section 968.375(2)—provides that "Any search warrant not executed within the time provided in sub. (1) shall be void and shall be returned to the judge issuing it." Thus, the untimely execution of a search warrant renders it void and requires its return to the judge who issued it.

To be sure, like section 968.15(1), section 968.375(6) provides that a subpoena or warrant under section 968.375 "shall be served not more than 5 days after the date of issuance." But in contrast to section 968.15(2), section 968.375 contains no language that declares an untimely served subpoena or warrant void and requires its return to the issuing judge.

Thus, unlike section 968.15(2), section 968.375 creates no penalty, i.e., a declaration that a subpoena is void, for the untimely service of a subpoena.

Had "the legislature had intended to accomplish" what DiMiceli urges, "the legislature knew how to draft that language and could have done so had it wished." *See Journal* Sentinel v. City of Milwaukee, 2012 WI 65, ¶ 36, 341 Wis. 2d 607, 815 N.W.2d 367. That is, the legislature could have included language in section 968.375, as it did in section 968.15(2), that renders an untimely served subpoena void and requires its return to the judge. By declining to incorporate a "voiding" requirement into section 968.375(6)'s five-day service requirement, the legislature limited suppression to situations where noncompliance with section 968.375's provisions affected a defendant's "substantial rights." Wis. Stat. § 968.375(12).

Because there is no express statutory provision in section 968.375 declaring an untimely subpoena void, the subpoena here is more akin to the untimely return of a search warrant after it is executed. Under Wis. Stat. § 968.17(1), a search warrant return "shall be made within 48 hours after execution to the clerk designated in the warrant." The supreme court has characterized a warrant's timely return as a "ministerial duty which [does] not affect the validity of the search absent prejudice to the defendant." *Sveum*, 328 Wis. 2d 369, ¶ 69 (citation omitted).

Further, the supreme court has declined to extend section 968.15(2)'s "void" language beyond search warrants issued under Wis. Stat. § 968.12. In *State v. Pinder*, 2018 WI 106, ¶¶ 1–2, 384 Wis. 2d 416, 919 N.W.2d 568, the State obtained a warrant authorizing the installation of a "Global Positioning System" ("GPS") tracking device on a car. However, the investigator did not install the tracking device on Pinder's car until 10 days later. *Id.* ¶ 9. The supreme court rejected Pinder's argument that the investigator's failure to install the device within section 968.15(1)'s five-day execution requirement rendered the warrant void under section 968.15(2). *Id.* ¶¶ 1–2. The supreme court held that a GPS tracking warrant is a warrant issued under its inherent authority rather than a warrant authorizing the seizure of designated property under section 968.12. *Id.* ¶ 2. Because the

GPS tracking warrant was not issued pursuant to a statute, the warrant was not subject to sections 968.15's and 968.17's execution and return requirements. *Id.* ¶ 62. Therefore, the warrant was otherwise constitutionally sufficient, and the results of the warrant were not subject to suppression.

Similarly, because a section 968.375(2) subpoena is not subject to section 968.15's execution requirements, it is not subject to the consequences that flow from its untimely service, i.e., a declaration that the subpoena is void. The untimely service of the subpoena on Charter did not affect DiMiceli's substantial rights and does not render the subpoena void.

E. Notwithstanding DiMiceli's other arguments, delayed service did not violate his substantial rights and does not warrant suppression of evidence.

DiMiceli implicitly suggests that noncompliance with section 968.375 violated his substantial rights because of the penalties imposed under section 968.31 for violations of the WESCL. (DiMiceli's Br. 17.) Subject to certain exceptions, section 968.31(1) penalizes individuals who unlawfully intercept and disclose protected communications. Although related to the WESCL, section 968.375 is not part of the WESCL.⁶ But even if it were, noncompliance with sec. 968.375's requirements does not trigger liability under section 968.31(1).

DiMiceli's case has nothing to do with the interception and disclosure of protected communications. The State merely sought to obtain Charter's information related to a subscriber

⁶ The SCA, under 18 U.S.C. §§ 2701–2712, is related but separate from Title III of the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968. Similarly, while section 968.375 relies on section 968.27's definitions, it is distinct from the WESCL act.

and not the subscriber's communications through the section 968.375(2) subpoena. None of the State's actions, including the untimely service of the subpoena on Charter, triggered criminal liability under section 968.31(1), and, therefore, does not support DiMiceli's suggestion that untimely service implicated his substantial rights.

DiMiceli asserts that an IP address can change every time a router resets power and, therefore, timely service is needed to "best ensure that the information remains the same from the date of the application to the date of execution." (DiMiceli's Br. 18–19.) The subpoena is not part of the record in DiMiceli's case. But DiMiceli has not suggested that the subpoena requested subscriber information for a date other than September 4, 2015, the date that Agent Crowe accessed publicly available files through a P2P network associated with the IP address 68.190.154.93. Nor could DiMiceli suggest otherwise, because when the record is incomplete, this Court must assume that the missing material supports the circuit court's decision. *See State v. Provo*, 2004 WI App 97, ¶ 19, 272 Wis. 2d 837, 681 N.W.2d 272.

Even assuming IP addresses change, *arguendo*, as DiMiceli suggests, then Agent Crowe would have only been interested in locating subscriber information related to the account that was assigned this specific IP address on September 4 and not a different date. DiMiceli cannot reasonably argue that the four-day delay in serving the subpoena would have changed Charter's records regarding the subscriber associated with this IP address on September 4. While IP addresses might change, DiMiceli has offered no evidence that Charter's records regarding the assignment of the IP address on the date in question changed such that Charter would have disclosed inaccurate information in response to an untimely served subpoena. Absent such evidence, DiMiceli has not demonstrated that the delay impacted his substantial rights. Relying on State ex rel. Two Unnamed Petitioners v. Peterson, 2015 WI 85, 363 Wis. 2d 1, 866 N.W.2d 165, DiMiceli broadly asserts that section 968.375 was enacted "to ensure a citizen's right to privacy of their electronic surveillance records when they are being infringed upon." (DiMiceli's Br. 16.) DiMiceli's reliance on Two Unnamed Petitioners is misplaced. First, the reference to section 968.375 that DiMiceli relies upon appears in Section V of Justice Prosser's concurrence. Two Unnamed Petitioners, 363 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 240, 247 (Prosser, J., concurring). Only one other member of the supreme court joined this part of his concurrence. Id. ¶ 306.

Second, section 968.375 certainly provides some protection for things that a person might want to keep quiet like email or the location of a mobile phone. While section 968.375 may provide statutory protections to subscribers, it does not mean that a person has a Fourth Amendment expectation of privacy in all activities he or she engages in while using an ISP's services. See State v. Silverstein, 2017 WI App 64, ¶ 5, 378 Wis. 2d 42, 902 N.W.2d 550 (noting legal duty of ISP to forward information about images and users' accounts to the National Center for Missing and Exploited when the provider finds suspected Children child pornography in a user's account). As the State argued, *supra* Section C., section 968.375's procedures are primarily designed to facilitate the production of documents from providers rather than protect subscribers.

DiMiceli's arguments do not undermine section 968.375(12)'s plain language that limits suppression to circumstances that violate his substantial rights. Suppression was not a remedy for any error that occurred in DiMiceli's case because he has not shown that the error violated his substantial rights.

F. If error occurred, the remedy is remand.

Should the Court determine that a four-day delay in serving the subpoena on Charter may have violated DiMiceli's substantial rights, then it should remand the matter to the circuit court.

In response to DiMiceli's motion, the State argued that the circuit court should dismiss the motion without an evidentiary hearing because, even assuming his assertions were true, he was not entitled to relief. (R. 27:1.) The circuit court denied DiMiceli's motion challenging the section 968.375 subpoena without an evidentiary hearing. (R. 29:6.) Neither the subpoena nor the subsequently issued search warrant that DiMiceli challenges are part of the appellate record. And without this information in the record, it is unclear whether the evidence seized during the execution of the search warrant would constitute derivative evidence subject to suppression.

Further, even if untimely service violated DiMiceli's substantial rights, section 968.375(12) only allows the suppression of "[e]vidence disclosed under a subpoena or warrant issued under this section." Section 968.375(12) does not expressly provide for the suppression of evidence subsequently *derived* through a violation of section 968.375's requirements. That is, in DiMiceli's case, section 968.375(12) only allows suppression for the information Charter provided in response to the subpoena, not the evidence produced through the search warrant.

If untimely service violated DiMiceli's constitutional rights, then suppression may be appropriate under the fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine, assuming the State exploited the illegality. *See Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 485–88 (1963). But as the State argued, *supra* Section B.1.– 3., untimely service, at most, violated his statutory rights. And suppression for a nonconstitutional violation does not ordinarily provide a basis to suppress evidence unless the statute expressly provides for suppression or, in rare cases, when noncompliance rendered the statute's safeguards meaningless. Popenhagen, 309 Wis. 2d 601, ¶¶ 13 n.10, 54. The legislature could have provided for suppression of evidence. See, e.g., Wis. Stat. 972.085 (prohibiting "use of evidence *derived* from compelled testimony or evidence" as well as the use of compelled testimony). And unlike *Popenhagen*, DiMiceli's case is not one where noncompliance with the five-day service requirement otherwise rendered section 968.375's protections meaningless. Therefore. suppression of the evidence seized through the warrant based solely on a violation of section 968.375's timely service requirement would be inappropriate.

Further, even if delayed service *theoretically* could have implicated DiMiceli's substantial rights, the evidence in the limited record does not support such an assertion. Therefore, if this Court believes that delayed service, at least in some cases, might implicate a subscriber's substantial rights, then it should direct the circuit court to conduct an evidentiary hearing on DiMiceli's motion, applying the legal framework that this Court identifies for resolving the case. *See State v. McCallum*, 208 Wis. 2d 463, 479, 561 N.W.2d 707 (1997), *holding modified by State v. Kivioja*, 225 Wis. 2d 271, 592 N.W.2d 220 (1999) (recognizing remand may be the wiser course so that the circuit court may apply the proper legal standard after a hearing).

Finally, even if DiMiceli can demonstrate that delayed service implicated his substantial rights, the circuit court should decide whether he is entitled to plea withdrawal. The circuit court should grant plea withdrawal only if the State cannot meet its burden of demonstrating that the circuit court's error in refusing to suppress evidence was harmless, guided by the factors this Court identified in *State v. Semrau*, 2000 WI App. 54, ¶ 22, 233 Wis. 2d 508, 608 N.W.2d 376.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm DiMiceli's judgment of conviction and the circuit court order denying his motion to suppress evidence.